1970

Doris Cypert v. Board of Education of Washington
County School District, Sheldon B. Johnson,
Findly M. Judd, Fredrick R. Brueck, Gary T. Moore,
Dr. Walter H. Snow, Ronald v. Mcarthur and T.
Lavoy Esplin : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action by the Plaintiff-Respondent, a resident qualified voter of Washington County, Utah, brought on behalf of herself and all other similarly situated persons residing within the boundaries of Washington County School District, Utah, who did not pay a tax on property located in Washington County School District within the twelve months preceding May 27, 1969, against the Board of Education of Washington County School District to enjoin the issuance of certain school

building bonds voted at a bond election held and conducted by the Defendants-Appellants on May 27, 1969, and to declare invalid those portions of Article XIV, Section 3, of the Utah Constitution and Sections 11-14-2 and 11-14-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, which might limit the right to vote at bond elections to those electors who have paid a property tax therein during the twelve months preceding the election.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

After trial of the cause on December 12, 1969, the District Court of Washington County, after entering a memorandum decision on April 2, 1970, entered a judgment and decree on April 14, 1970, (1) enjoining Defendants-Appellants from issuing or selling the bonds voted at the May 27, 1969, bond election, (2) declaring those portions of Article XIV, Section 3, Utah Constitution, and Sections 11-14-2 and 11-14-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, which limit the right to vote at bond elections to electors who had paid property taxes on property located in the political subdivision within twelve months preceding the date of the bond election to be void and in violation of the United States Constitution, (3) declaring that the aforesaid provisions of Article XIV, Section 3, Utah Constitution, and Sections 11-14-2 and 11-14-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, requiring such taxpayer vote are severable from the remainder of such sections and that Defendants-Appellants may validly hold bond elections as long as the right to vote is not limited to taxpayers only, and (4) that such decision would apply prospectively only and would

not affect the validity of any bond election or bonds where the bond election contest period provided by Utah law had expired prior to June 16, 1969.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants-Appellants seek reversal of so much of the judgment of the District Court of Washington County as enjoins Defendants from selling or issuing the bonds voted at the May 27, 1969, election and declares that portion of the Constitution and statutes of the State of Utah which limit the right to vote at bond elections to those qualified electors who had paid a tax on property located within a political subdivision within twelve months of the date of the election to be unconstitutional and void, but respectfully asks that if this Court affirms the judgment of the District Court of Washington County on such counts, then this court affirm the portions of the judgment holding the aforesaid provisions of the Constitution and statutes of the State of Utah to be severable and permitting elections to be held as long as the right to vote is not limited to taxpayers only and further affirm the portion of the judgment holding that any such decision applies prospectively only.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff-Respondent is a resident of Washington County, Utah, and as such, a resident of Washington County School District. She is a qualified, registered elector of the County, but, during the twelve month

period immediately preceding May 27, 1969, did not own property located within the boundaries of Washington County School District, the title to which was listed in her name on the tax rolls of Washington County, Utah, nor did she during said twelve month period pay a property tax to Washington County or to Washington County School District.

On April 8, 1969, the Defendants-Appellants adopted a resolution (See Exhibit A, R.12), calling a special bond election to be held in Washington County School District, Utah, during legal hours on May 27, 1969, upon the issuance of bonds in the amount of \$1,000,000, to mature serially in not more than twenty years from their date, and to bear interest at a rate or rates not exceeding 6% per annum, for the purpose of raising money for purchasing school sites, for building or purchasing one or more school houses and supplying the same with furniture and necessary apparatus, and for improving school property under the charge of the Board of Education.

By the terms of the resolution of April 8, 1969 and the notice of election set forth in the resolution and in accordance with the provisions of Article XIV, Section 3, Utah Constitution and of Sections 11-14-2 and 11-14-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, the Defendants-Appellants provided that only such qualified electors of the Washington County School District as had paid a property tax in the school district within the twelve months preceding the date of the special bond election would be permitted to cast a ballot at such election on the proposition

of the issuance of such bonds. Defendants-Appellants provided in said notice of election that qualified, registered electors of the school district presenting themselves at the polls at the special bond election on May 27, 1969, could establish that they paid a property tax on property situated within the boundaries of the said school district during the twelve months immediately preceding the date of the election either by exhibiting a receipt of the County Treasurer of Washington County, Utah, (in the form of a tax notice appropriately stamped by the County Treasurer to show payment of such tax) or, in the alternative, by taking an oath, with or without legal challenge, under the pains and penalties of perjury, that such person offering to vote at the bond election had within twelve months preceding May 27, 1969, paid a tax on property located in the school district the title to which was held in his name according to the assessment roll of Washington County, Utah, in the form in which said oath was set out at length in Section 9 of the aforesaid resolution of April 8, 1969. The election on May 27, 1969 was, in fact, conducted in accordance with these limitations. (See section 3 of Exhibit D, Resolution Canvassing Vote of June 3, 1969; Finding of Fact 3, R.89-90).

Plaintiff-Respondent was unable to comply with the limitations on voting established by the Board of Education. She could not legally and properly execute the taxpayer oath and could not present evidence of payment of the required tax. Accordingly, Plaintiff-Respondent did not vote at the special bond election (Tr. 6).

The special bond election was held on May 27, 1969 and on June 3, 1969 the returns were canvassed by the Defendants-Appellants. (See Exhibit D, Finding of Fact 7, R. 90-91). It was determined that a majority of the persons voting at such special bond election voted in favor of the issuance of \$1,000,000 general obligation school building bonds of the school district. The Defendants-Appellants found that only qualified registered electors of the Washington County School District who had paid a property tax therein in the twelve months preceding the election were permitted to vote at the election.

On September 22, 1969 the Defendants-Appellants adopted a resolution authorizing the issuance of \$400,000 School Building Bonds, Series of December 1, 1969, of the Board of Education of Washington County School District, being part of the \$1,000,000 bonds authorized at the May 27, 1969, special bond election. (See Exhibit B, R. 29-40; Finding of Fact 8, R. 91). In Section 7 of said resolution of September 22, the Defendants-Appellants authorized and directed the Clerk of the Board of Education to contact potential purchasers of the \$400,000 bonds therein authorized, and to supply all necessary information to such potential purchasers so that bids for the sale of the bonds could be submitted to the defendant Board of Education for consideration and acceptance.

On June 16, 1969, subsequent to the special bond election held in Washington County School District and conducted by the Defendants-Appellants, and subsequent to the canvass of the results of said special bond election.

but prior to the expiration of the forty-day period computed from the date the returns of the election are canvassed and the results thereof declared within which Section 11-14-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, permits election contests to be filed challenging bond elections, the United States Supreme Court handed down opinions in two cases relating to the validity, under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, of state restrictions on qualifications to vote at certain local elections. The two cases decided on June 16, 1969, are *Kramer v. Union Free School District*, 395 U.S. 621, 23 L. Ed.2d 583, 89 S.Ct. 1886 (1969), and *Cipriano v. City of Houma*, 395 U.S. 701, 23 L.Ed. 2d 647, 89 S.Ct. 1897 (1969). In both cases the Supreme Court of the United States held certain state statutes which restricted the right to vote at the local elections involved to qualified electors who also qualified as the owners of property upon which ad valorem taxes were paid, to be in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.

The *Kramer* case, dealt with the right to vote at school elections generally, but the *Cipriano* case dealt with the right to vote at an election held upon the question of the issuance of municipal electric utility revenue bonds.

In the *Cipriano* case the Supreme Court of the United States, after holding the provisions of Louisiana law which limit the right to vote at revenue bond elections to qualified, taxpaying electors to be in violation

of the Federal Constitution, and hence the election at which the bonds in question were approved to be invalid, null and void, nevertheless specified that its decision would not be fully retroactive. The pertinent portion of the language of the court at page 652 discussing the prospective nature of its opinion is quoted as follows:

Significant hardships would be imposed on cities, bondholders, and others connected with municipal utilities if our decision today were given full retroactive effect. Where a decision of this Court could produce substantial inequitable results if applied retroactively, there is ample basis in our cases for avoiding the "injustice or hardship" by a holding of nonretroactivity. *Great Northern R. Co. v. Sunburst Oil & Refining Co.*, 287 U.S. 358, 364, 77 L.Ed. 360, 366, 53 S. Ct. 145, 85 A.L.R. 254 (1932). See *Chicot County Drainage Dist. v. Baxter State Bank*, 308 U.S. 371, 84 L.Ed. 329, 60 S.Ct. 317 (1940). Cf. *Linkletter v. Walker*, 381 U.S. 618, 14 L.Ed. 2d 601, 85 S.Ct. 1731 (1965). Therefore, we will apply our decision in this case prospectively. That is, we will apply it only where, under state law, the time for challenging the election results has not expired, or in cases brought within the time specified by state law for challenging the election and which are not yet final. Thus, the decision will not apply where the authorization to issue the securities is legally complete on the date of this decision. Of course, our decision will not affect the validity of securities which have been sold or issued prior to this decision and pursuant to such final authorization.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 11-14-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, the period for bringing an election contest under Utah law challenging the results and

validity of the May 27, 1969, special bond election conducted by Defendants-Appellants expired on July 14, 1969. The Plaintiff-Respondent suing on behalf of herself and all other similarly situated persons who are residents of Washington County School District, but who did not own property located within the boundaries of the Washington County School District on which they had paid a tax within twelve months of the May 27, 1969, election held and conducted by Defendants-Appellants, filed suit against the Defendants-Appellants on December 4, 1969, which date was after the expiration of the 40-day bond election contest period provided in the Utah Municipal Bond Act by Section 11-14-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN HOLDING THAT AS TO GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ELECTIONS THE TAXPAYER VOTING REQUIREMENT OF ARTICLE XIV, SECTION 3, OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION AND OF SECTIONS 11-14-2 AND 11-14-5, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AS AMENDED, VIOLATES THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

It is submitted that the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States, as recently interpreted by the Supreme Court of the United States in *Kramer* and *Cipriano*, does

not support the holding by the court below that Article XIV, Section 3, of the Utah Constitution and Sections 11-14-2 and 11-14-5 of the Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, which require a taxpayer vote on the question of incurring indebtedness, are unconstitutional as applied to general obligation bond elections. The *Kramer* and *Cipriano* opinions were not concerned with elections on the issuance of general obligation bonds. *Kramer* was wholly unrelated to the issuance of bonds and *Cipriano* was concerned only with the issuance of revenue bonds, and they are therefore not authority for invalidating the provisions of the Utah Constitution and statutes which require that only property taxpaying electors may vote at general obligation bond elections.

The Supreme Court of the United States in the *Cipriano* opinion was very careful to limit its opinion to the revenue bond situation, the Court declaring in Footnote 5 at page 651 :

As in *Kramer v. Union Free School District No. 15*, U.S. , 23 L.Ed.2d 583, 89 S.Ct. , we find it unnecessary to decide whether a state might, in some circumstances, limit the franchise to those “primarily interested.”

It is apparent therefore that the Supreme Court of the United States went out of its way in the *Cipriano* opinion to indicate that its decision was not to be applied to types of bond elections other than the revenue bond type of election before the Court in that case.

The court below was therefore in error in determining that the opinion in the *Cipriano* case is determinative

of the validity of the provisions of the Utah Constitution and statutes which limit the right to vote at general obligation bond elections to taxpayers. On the contrary, it is submitted that there are ample valid constitutional grounds for reaching the contrary result and therefore it is requested that this Court find and hold that the Equal Protection Clause is not violated by the present voter qualification provisions of the Utah Constitution and statutes as applied to general obligation bond elections.

The rationale for holding that the constitutional theory of *Kramer* and *Cipriano* should not apply to a case involving a general obligation bond election rests in the significant difference between general obligation bonds and revenue bonds. While the debt represented by the latter is payable only from the revenues generated by the project constructed with the bond proceeds, the debt represented by general obligation bonds is legally payable from taxes levied only upon property owners. Section 11-14-19 of the Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, provides that all bonds not payable solely from revenues constitute full general obligations to which the full faith and credit of the political subdivision is pledged, and further provides that such bonds enjoy an obligation on the part of the issuing entity to levy and collect annually ad valorem taxes without limitation as to rate or amount fully sufficient for the purpose. Furthermore, it is provided in Sections 59-10-3 and 59-10-42 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, that taxes are made a lien on the property of a taxpayer and that such lien may be foreclosed upon for the pur-

pose of collecting delinquent taxes. Therefore, through the obligor on a general obligation bond may nominally be the issuing entity, in effect it is a composite of the property taxpayers who, because of their ownership of property, can be taxed for the entire payment of the principal and interest on the bonds. Failure to pay the tax can lead to the loss of the property. It is these facts which provide the very critical difference between the nature of the general obligation bonds involved in this appeal and those voted at the revenue bond election contested in *Cipriano*, and it is because of this difference that the Defendants-Appellants seek to have this Court reverse the court below and hold constitutional the property taxpayer requirements of Utah law.

When disallowing the limitation of the franchise in revenue bond elections in the *Cipriano* case, the United States Supreme Court itself emphasized the significance of this difference between revenue and general obligation bonds. In reaching the conclusion that the benefits and burdens of a revenue bond issue fall indiscriminately on both property owners and non-property owners alike, the Court emphasized that this conclusion was reached because, *inter-alia*, of the fundamental characteristics of revenue bonds. The language of the Court at page 651 is as follows :

The revenue bonds are to be paid only from the operations of the utilities ; they are not financed in any way by property tax revenue. Property owners, like non-property owners, use the utilities and pay the rates ; however, the impact on them is unconnected to their status as property taxpayers.

By using this approach to demonstrate the irrationality of the state's determination that property taxpayers are more greatly affected by the issuance of revenue bonds than are non-property taxpayers, the United States Supreme Court distinguished bonds "financed" by property tax revenues from the effect of its holding. In making this distinction the Court indirectly, yet clearly, sustained the viability of the property taxpayer requirement in general obligation bond elections; and, therefore, it must be said that if the *Cipriano* decision concerns general obligation bond elections at all, it tends to enforce rather than deny the validity of the property taxpayer requirement in such elections.

In *Cipriano*, the United States Supreme Court alluded to the *Kramer* case saying that in *Kramer* it had stated that "the Court must determine whether the exclusions are necessary to promote a compelling state interest" in determining the constitutionality of a state statute which grants the right to vote in a limited purpose election to some otherwise qualified voters and denies it to others. As a guideline or test to be used in determining whether or not the compelling state interest exists, the Court explained that an examination must be made as to whether or not those otherwise qualified voters who are excluded are "in fact substantially less interested or affected than those the statute includes." In determining the unconstitutionality of the property taxpayer requirement in revenue bond elections the Court noted that the exclusion of non-property taxpayers could not withstand the scrutiny of this examination, but to

make this determination the Court did, as already mentioned, distinguish general obligation bonds. In effect, through its reasoning in the *Cipriano* case, the United States Supreme Court seems to have answered the very question presented in the case at hand.

While it may be conceded that the benefits reaped from the issuance of general obligation school bonds fall indiscriminately upon all residents of the community, both property taxpayers and non-property taxpayers alike, legally the burden falls *entirely* upon those taxpayers who will provide the funds for the payment of the principal of and the interest on the bonds. While non-property tax-payers may have a subjective "interest" in the issuance of general obligation bonds, it must be said that because they have no part in the payment of principal and interest on these bonds they are "substantially less interested or affected" than the property taxpayers who legally carry the entire burden of repayment of the bond issue together with interest thereon.

When a public project is financed with revenue bonds, such as the utility system with which the Court was concerned in *Cipriano*, all residents of the community are burdened and benefited irrespective of their ownership of property. As the Court mentioned in *Cipriano*, the burden might be in the form of increased rates if the bonds are voted and the benefit might be in the form of an addition to the funds of the general coffers of the city if the utility system should generate a profit after the payment of debt service on the bonds and other ex-

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