1970

Doris Cypert v. Board of Education of Washington  
County School District, Sheldon B. Johnson,  
Findly M. Judd, Fredrick R. Brueck, Gary T. Moore,  
Dr. Walter H. Snow, Ronald v. Mcarthur and T.  
Lavoy Esplin : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE PROPERTY TAX LIMITATION IN BOND ELECTIONS FOR ALL TYPES OF BONDS VIOLATES THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

The essential problem of this case is a limitation on voting, a limitation which amounts to a state classification of qualified resident voters between those who pay real or personal property taxes and those who do not pay such taxes. Because of the decision of this court in *Thompson v. City of Centerville*, 18 U.2d 174, 417 P.2d 670 (1966) our present statutes and State Constitution make an even stricter classification by allowing the vote only to those persons in whose name on the assessment list real or personal property taxes are assessed and denying the vote to spouses of such taxpayers and to persons in whose name taxes are not assessed even though such persons in fact pay the tax on the property that is assessed (for example, contract purchasers of real property).

We rely principally on three recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court: *Harper v. Virginia State*



*Board of Elections*, 383 U.S. 663, 16 L.Ed.2d 169, 86 S.Ct. 1079 (1966); *Kramer v. Union Free School District*, 395 U.S. 621, 23 L.Ed.2d 583, 89 S.Ct. 1886 (1969); *Cipriano v. City of Houma*, 395 U.S. 701, 23 L.Ed.2d 647, 89 S.Ct. 1897 (1969).

The three cases above referred to establish three general propositions. First: The political subdivision or the state may not rely upon the alleged “reasonableness” of the classification of voters in bond elections or any presumption of constitutionality of such classification. Second: Is the classification “necessary” to promote a compelling state interest? Third: If the classification is necessary, is there a compelling state interest which overcomes the presumption that denial of the right to vote on grounds of wealth is “invidious discrimination” under the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment?

The Supreme Court in the *Kramer* case, *supra*, held that the right to vote is such a fundamental right under our system of government that any denial of such right is carefully scrutinized and the normal presumption of constitutionality does not apply. The court noted that the basis for the presumption of constitutionality is the assumption “that the institutions of state government are structured so as to represent fairly all the people.” When this basic assumption is challenged as it is in contesting legislation which denies some people the right to participate in important public decisions, the assumption cannot be used as a basis for presuming constitu-

tionality of the questioned statute. (*Kramer, supra*, 23 L.Ed.2d at 590).

Again in the *Harper* case, *supra*, the Supreme Court stated (16 L.Ed.2d at 173) :

Lines drawn on the basis of wealth or property, like those of race . . . , are traditionally disfavored.

As Circuit Judge Wisdom stated it in *Stewart v. Parish School Board of the Parish of St. Charles* (U.S.D.C., E. Dist., La ; February 25, 1970), 310 F.Supp. 1172 :

In other situations, . . . the defenders of a statutory classification have the light burden of finding that the legislative scheme has a rational basis. Here they must meet "the exacting standard of precision" required of "statutes which selectively distribute the franchise."

Thus the rule established by these cases is that limitations on the right to vote and denials of the right to vote will be carefully scrutinized and must be fully justified.

The second proposition — whether the classification is necessary to promote a compelling state interest — has been the principal area for examination in recent cases. The basis for this proposition was stated in the *Kramer* case as follows :

Statutes granting the franchise to residents on a selective basis always pose the danger of denying some citizens any effective voice in the governmental affairs which substantially affect their lives. Therefore, if a challenged state statute grants the right to vote to some bona fide residents of requisite age and citizenship and denies the franchise to others, the Court must determine

whether the exclusions are necessary to promote a compelling state interest. (23 L.Ed.2d at 589)

The *Kramer* case involved a challenge to a New York Statute providing for school district elections. In the type of school district operating under the law in question, a person could vote at the school election only if he was an owner or the lessee, or the spouse of an owner or lessee, of taxable real property, or was the parent or guardian of children currently enrolled in the public school system. The plaintiff in the *Kramer* case was a bachelor who owned no property rendered for taxation but was an otherwise qualified elector of the school district. The thrust of the statute went to the right to vote at the annual meeting of the school district at which eligible voters who were present could vote on matters of local taxation, could approve the school budget and in certain instances could vote taxes for school building purposes.

The arguments articulating the state interest were first, since it could be reasonably concluded that property taxpayers, and lessees who have the tax burden through rental payments, would be more interested because of the effect on their pocketbook, those were the persons who were primarily interested, plus the parents of children. Second, it was argued that only those two classes of persons could be expected to understand the complex questions dealing with school problems which were to be voted upon, because non-parents were not as well informed about school problems as were parents with children in the school system. It was ar-

gued that those electors who paid taxes or rented property, even though they might not have children in school would see to it that they obtained the necessary information to intelligently vote on the questions presented at the school meetings. In discussing the arguments offered on behalf of the state in defense of its classification, the court stated:

Whether classifications allegedly limiting the franchise to those resident citizens “primarily interested” deny those excluded equal protection of law depends, inter alia, on whether all those excluded are in fact substantially less interested or affected than those the statute includes. In other words, the classifications must be tailored so that the exclusion of appellant and members of his class is necessary to achieve the articulated state goal. Section 2012 does not meet the exacting standards of precision we require of statutes which selectively distribute the franchise. The classifications in Section 2012 permit inclusion of many persons who have, at best, a remote and indirect interest in school affairs and on the other hand, exclude others who have a distinct and direct interest in the school meeting decisions.

The court then enumerated other classes of persons who were also denied the right to vote under the New York law and held that there were others who were also interested in the school meeting decisions and who were not permitted to vote, and concluded that since those denied the right to vote were not substantially less interested or affected, the statute was unconstitutional. It is to be noted that the court specifically stated that it did not reach the question of whether the interest pro-

moted by the state in excluding non-taxpayers from voting constituted a compelling state interest which would escape the taint of "invidious discrimination."

The holding in the *Kramer* case was a development of the principle of the *Harper* case decided in 1966 where a state poll tax was declared invalid. The Supreme Court there stated:

We conclude that a State violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment whenever it makes the affluence of the voter or payment of any fee an electoral standard. Voter qualifications have no relation to wealth nor to paying or not paying this or any other tax. Our cases demonstrate that the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment restrains the States from fixing voter qualifications which invidiously discriminate (16 L.Ed.2d at 172).

The *Cipriano* case, decided on the same day as *Kramer*, comes closest to the facts of this case in that a bond election was involved, there a city electric revenue bond. The applicable Louisiana Statute required approval by a majority in number and amount of the taxpayers qualified to vote who chose to vote at the bond election. The court, relying principally on the *Kramer* case, held that it violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to deny the vote to non-taxpayers. This determination was based on the principle that those excluded from the vote were not substantially less interested or affected than those permitted to vote. For these types of bonds payable from utility rates and only indirectly affecting property val-

ues and property taxes, there is no justification for differentiating between property taxpayers and non-property taxpayers. This is not to say that property taxpayers have no interest, but only that there is no justifiable reason for excluding non-property taxpayers when both groups are substantially affected by the operation of the city-owned electric system.

Coming now to the facts of this case, we are dealing with a classification under Utah law which allows some persons to vote at bond elections who have a remote and indirect interest in school affairs and excludes other persons, like plaintiff, who have a distinct and direct interest. Is such a classification "necessary"? Under the Utah statutes and Constitution, spouses, contract purchasers, senior citizens, and others living with children, or relatives living with children or other relatives, lessees of property, clergy, military, and others living on tax-exempt property who are not also assessed with personal property, and the parents of children enrolled in the public school system who neither own real or personal property like the plaintiff are prevented from voting at either a revenue bond or general obligation bond election. Can it be seriously argued that such persons enumerated above have no interest worth Constitutional protection in the outcome of a bond election? Each of the classes are substantially interested in and substantially affected by the question of the issuance of bonds to build school buildings.

Under the classifications drawn by the Utah Constitution and statutes, a person owning an automobile

and paying a personal property tax thereon in a significantly small amount may vote at a school bond election, whereas parents who do not own an automobile and who rent their residence and have children in the public schools may not vote at the school bond election, even though they ultimately pay a property tax because the rental which they pay for their housing includes a portion of the tax burden. An even greater anomaly is the contract purchaser of property who in fact pays taxes on the property but, because the property is not assessed in his name, is not entitled to vote. See *Thompson v. City of Centerville*, *supra*. The court can take judicial notice of the fact that the customary form of uniform real estate contract in this state requires the buyer to pay the property taxes and can further take notice of the significant number of real estate transactions handled under such a form of contract.

The plaintiff has rented a residence in St. George within the boundaries of the Washington County School District. The property in which she resides is listed on the tax rolls of Washington County, Utah. Real property taxes on such property have been paid to Washington County and a portion of these remitted to Washington County School District as provided by Utah law. Plaintiff pays state income and sales taxes, a portion of which are returned by the State Legislature to the Washington County School District.

The Supreme Court in the *Kramer* case specifically recognized the interest of lessees of real property, such

as plaintiff, in the payment of taxes indirectly and also the interest of non-property taxpayers in the effect on the general price level of taxes levied by political subdivisions. It is not sufficient therefore to argue that because those electors who are listed on the tax rolls and who pay a property tax are the electors who are "primarily" affected by a bond issue or tax, such state classifications are valid under the requirements laid down by the Supreme Court of the United States in the *Kramer* and *Cipriano* cases, *supra*. The owners of property may have only a slight and minimal interest in the outcome of a bond election or the levy of taxes, whereas non-property owning spouses, contract purchasers, lessees and non-property taxpaying parents of children may have a vital interest in the outcome of the election and in the quality and structure of public education. In addition to the question of whether or not the bonds shall be issued, bond elections present to communities basic decisions which can vitally affect the future of the public education system in the school district. For example, the passage of a bond election to build a particular school or to complete a particular building program may, because of the status of the debt limit of the school district under the Utah Constitution, mean that for many years in the future that school district will not be able to incur additional bond indebtedness, therefore precluding the issuance of additional bonds for different or additional building projects. The question presented to the voters at a school bond election results in bringing into focus the interests of parents of children concerning the wise expenditure of the debt incur-



ring power of the school district for one as against another school project. The decision called for at a bond election can have a substantial effect on the classes of persons listed above who are now excluded from voting under the Utah law.

The principal argument of Appellant is that because property taxpayers can be subjected to a tax to pay the bonds which are being voted on, there is a compelling state interest in limiting the vote to such property taxpayers. It is the familiar argument that the one paying the bill should decide whether the bill should be incurred. The argument has three basic fallacies: First, that property taxpayers in Utah in fact pay the bill, second, that all property taxpayers are permitted to vote, and, third, that the interest of non-property taxpayers in the outcome of bond elections can be ignored.

With regard to the first fallacy, property taxes have ceased to be the principal support for school districts and for cities, towns and counties in the state. Schools in the state receive substantial amounts of state aid and the source of this state money is largely due from the Uniform School Fund which is made up of a number of sources including all of the revenues from the corporate franchise tax, all of the revenues from the individual income tax, a portion of rentals due the state from federal mineral leases and by appropriations from the general fund of the state for which sales tax revenues provide a major source (See Article X, Section 3, Utah Constitution; 53-7-1 U.C.A. 1953).

According to the publication of the Utah State Board of Education dated June 25, 1969 entitled Annual Estimated Minimum School Report of Utah School Districts 1969-70, it was estimated that the state supported minimum school program in the Washington County School District would be financed 82% by state funds and approximately 18% by local funds (See also R. 41). Cities, towns and counties have authority to impose license taxes and fees (10-8-39, 10-8-80, 17-5-27 Utah Code Annotated 1953), impose sales taxes (Chapter 9, Title 11, U.C.A. 1953) and receive some forms of state aid themselves (See 27-12-129, 32-1-24 and 41-11-11(2), U.C.A. 1953).

Thus it is the plaintiff and others who don't pay property tax but who pay state income taxes, sales taxes and license fees and other charges to local governmental units who pay a very significant part of the bill for the support of these local governments including moneys which may in fact be used for payment of principal and interest on bonds (approximately \$50,000 of state bonding aid funds usable solely for redemption of general obligation bonds was expected by the Washington County School District for the 1969-70 fiscal year, Tr. 9; Findings of Fact 9 and 10, R. 91).

Now it is said that it is only the property taxpayers whose property will be subject to tax to pay the bonds. It is true that general obligation bonds in Utah contain a covenant that a property tax sufficient to pay the principal and interest on the bonds shall be levied (See Section 6 of the Bond Ordinance here, R. 36). But this is not the full story because the same section provides that

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